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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00484 
CASE NAME: SCHNEIDER VS. KAY 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR TRIAL SETTING PREFERENCE BASED ON AGE & HEALTH 
FILED BY MICHAEL SCHNEIDER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Granted. The current trial date of December 7, 2020 is within the statutory preference 
time period. 

** Due to the excessive heat, our Court will close today at 3:00 pm.  If oral argument is 
requested and you are unable to notify the department prior to 3:00 p.m., please send a 
fax to (925) 608-2692 before 4:00 pm. 

  

 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00864 
CASE NAME: BAKER VS. FIVE STAR 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear via CourtCall. 

 

 

3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00864 
CASE NAME: BAKER VS. FIVE STAR 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY FIVE STAR SENIOR LIVING, INC., et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 
 Defendants Five Star Senior Living, Inc.’s (Five Star Entities), SNH Star Quality, et al.’s 
Demurrer to the FAC is overruled. 
 
Background 
 
 Plaintiff Nancy Baker, now deceased, was a resident of Tiffany Court, a 24-hour 
Residential Facility for the Elderly from September 2015 until her death on August 8, 2016. 
Defendant Five Star Senior Living, Inc., SNH SE Tenant TRS, Inc. doing business as Tiffany 
Court, a Resident Care Facility for the Elderly, is located at 1866 San Miguel Drive in Walnut 
Creek.   
 
 Decedent suffered from Alzheimer’s and the primary focus of choosing Defendant 
Tiffany Court as a residential facility was its advertised specialty in caring for patients with 
Alzheimer’s disease.    
 
      On June 18, 2016, at approximately 7:45 p.m., Ms. Baker was found outside, lying on 
the ground. She had wandered from the facility, without her walker, and had suffered a fall.  Ms. 
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Baker had severely fractured her humerus, requiring surgery and an implant.  Afterwards, Ms. 
Baker’s mental status declined and she was bedridden, lethargic and not eating.  
 
  Plaintiff returned to Tiffany Court on hospice care on July 6, 2016.  During her second 
admission, Ms. Baker’s was sexually assaulted.  On August 8, 2016, Ms. Baker died. 
 
 Plaintiffs allege Defendants neglected Ms. Baker and filed this action alleging elder 
abuse, wrongful death, negligence and violation of the Resident’s Bill of Rights. Plaintiffs 
amended their complaint to add causes of action for fraud and unfair business practices. 
   
   
Motion 
 Defendants demur to Fifth (Fraud—Misrepresentation), Sixth (Fraud—Constructive),   
Seventh (Fraud—Concealment), and Eighth (Unfair Business Practice) Causes of Action on the 
ground each of these causes of action failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of 
action. 
 
 The limited role of a demurrer is to test the legal sufficiency of a complaint. It raises 
issues of law, not fact, regarding the form or content of the opposing party's pleading.  
(Donabedian v. Mercury Ins. Co. (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 968, 994.)  For purposes of a 
demurrer, all properly pleaded facts are admitted as true. (Aubry v. Tri-City Hospital Dist. (1992) 
2 Cal.4th 962, 967.)  On demurrer the complaint must be liberally construed with a view to 
substantial justice between the parties. (Code Civ. Proc., § 452.) A demurrer lies only for defects 
appearing on the face of the complaint or from matters of which the court must or may take 
judicial notice. (Code Civ. Proc., § 430.40; see Blank v. Kirwan (1985) 39 Cal.3d 311, 318.) 
 
 
Plaintiffs’ Claims are not Barred and Relate Back   
 
 First, Defendants argue the survival fraud claims are time-barred.  The statute of 
limitations for fraud is three years.  (CCP §338(d).)  Ms. Baker fell and injured her arm on June 
18, 2016.  This FAC, adding the fraud claims, was filed on February 28, 2020.  Plaintiff does not 
allege delayed discovery.  Defendant argues the relation-back doctrine does not apply.  “In 
order for the relation-back doctrine to apply, ‘the amended complaint must (1) rest on the same 
general set of facts, (2) involve the same injury, and (3) refer to the same instrumentality, as the 
original one. [Citations.]’ [Citation.]” (Quiroz v. Seventh Ave. Center (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 
1256, 1278.) 
 
 Defendants argue the original complaint does not raise the same injury or instrumentality 
as the fraud claims because the only recoverable damages in Plaintiffs’ fraud claims are 
“economic” injuries arising from a violation of Ms. Baker’s “primary right” to enter a contract free 
from fraud.  The injuries alleged in the original complaint are solely for personal injuries in 
violation of Ms. Baker’s “primary right” to be free from personal injuries. Defendant argues that 
the instrumentality of fraud is communicative, whereas the instrumentality for personal injury is 
conduct by defendants. 
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 Plaintiffs responds this argument, contending that this is an elder abuse case and the 
instrumentality is the abusive behavior of the Tiffany Court and its employees.  The same 
instrumentality alleged in both the original complaint and the FAC.  
 
 “An amended complaint relates back to the original complaint, and thus avoids the 
statute of limitations as a bar against named parties substituted for fictitious defendants, if it: (1) 
rests on the same general set of facts as the original complaint; and (2) refers to the same 
accident and same injuries as the original complaint.” (Barrington v. A. H. Robins Co. (1985) 39 
Cal.3d 146, 151.)  In the original complaint, Plaintiff alleged that Defendant advertised specialty 
in caring for patients like decedent with Alzheimer’s and that Tiffany Court wooed the family into 
selecting the based on erroneous representation that a Memory Care Center would be built.  
Plaintiffs alleged this representation was false.  Plaintiffs’ fraud claim is based on the same 
general set of facts.  Plaintiffs allege that not only was the Memory Care Center not built, 
Defendants made representations that they had the present physical environment and sufficient 
trained staff to provide Ms. Baker the level of care required for her worsening dementia.   
Plaintiffs alleged Defendants representations were false and a result Ms. Baker suffered injuries. 
  
  Plaintiffs’ allegations relate back to the original claim.  The Court declines to sustain the 
demurrer on this ground. 
 
 
Noneconomic Damages are Recoverable in Proven Elder Abuse Case 
 
 Defendants argue the fraud claims fail to state a cause of action because the 
noneconomic damages alleged are not recoverable.  (CCP § 377.34.)  Plaintiffs argued in the 
Reply to motion for leave amend that under W & I Code § 15657, that noneconomic damages 
are recoverable.  Defendants argue that exception only applies to claims brought pursuant to 
the Elder and Dependent Adult Civil Penalties Act for physical abuse, neglect or abandonment.  
It has no application to common law torts.   
 
 As the Court stated in ruling on the motion for leave to amend the complaint, the Elder 
Abuse Act makes certain enhanced remedies available to a plaintiff who proves abuse of an 
elder, i.e., a “person residing in this state, 65 years of age or older.” (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 
15610.27.)  (Carter v. Prime Healthcare Paradise Valley LLC (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 396, 404.)  
To recover the enhanced remedies, the plaintiff must prove “by clear and convincing evidence” 
that “the defendant has been guilty of recklessness, oppression, fraud, or malice in the 
commission of” the neglect. (Carter v. Prime Healthcare Paradise Valley LLC (2011) 198 
Cal.App.4th 396, 405.) “On the same proof, a plaintiff who sues as the personal representative 
or successor in interest of a deceased elder is partially relieved of the limitation on damages 
imposed by Code of Civil Procedure section 377.34 and may recover damages for the 
decedent's predeath pain and suffering. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 15657, subd. (b).)”  (Carter v. 
Prime Healthcare Paradise Valley LLC (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 396, 404.) 
 
 As Plaintiffs are alleging fraud in the context of their elder abuse claim, the Court 
declines to sustain the demurrer on this ground.  At this stage of the pleading, the Court is not 
going to preclude the fraud causes of action that allege noneconomic damages. 
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5th C/A Fraud (Misrepresentation)  
 
 Plaintiffs allege they informed Defendant Patti Baird and others at Tiffany Court of Ms. 
Baker’s worsening dementia and the need for a higher level of care.  Baird and other employees 
represented to Plaintiffs that Tiffany Court was abundantly qualified to care for residents with 
dementia and that they had sufficient staff to ensure Ms. Baker would be supervised and keep 
safe.  Defendant held themselves out as a facility which provides special dementia care.  
Plaintiff alleges these representations were false.  Defendants knew that Tiffany Court was not 
equipped or had sufficient qualified staff to provide the level of care required by Ms. Baker.  
Defendant’s representations were made for the purpose of inducing Plaintiffs to allow Tiffany 
court to retain Ms. Baker so they could satisfy their census and earn fees.  Ms. Baker and her 
family relied on the false representations.  As a result, Ms. Baker suffered physical and 
emotional injuries and distress.   
 
 “The elements of fraud are: (1) a misrepresentation (false representation, concealment, 
or nondisclosure); (2) knowledge of falsity (or scienter); (3) intent to defraud, i.e., to induce 
reliance; (4) justifiable reliance; and (5) resulting damage.” (Robinson Helicopter Co., Inc. v. 
Dana Corp. (2004) 34 Cal.4th 979, 990.) 
 
 Defendants demur to this cause of action on the ground on Plaintiffs failed to allege facts 
sufficient to support the claim. Defendants argue that these fraud claims are defective because 
the actions are premised on an allegation that Ms. Baker was induced to become a resident of 
Tiffany Court based on a statement that she would receive “proper” future care.  Defendants 
argue that such statements are not actionable fraud.  A misrepresentation, to be actionable, 
must relate to a past or existing fact.  Defendants argue that promises of proper future care is 
not actionable if the defendant later commits an act of negligence, even if reckless.  Plaintiffs 
cannot justifiably rely on an alleged “promise” that another person will never be negligent in the 
future. The “promises” here are the same general assurances rejected in Pulvers v. Kaiser 
Foundation Health Plan (1980) 99 Cal.App.3d 560.)  
 
   Plaintiffs argue they have alleged more than vague assertions of proper care.  Plaintiffs 
alleged specific misrepresentations that Defendants represented the facility was abundantly 
qualified to give specialized care to persons with dementia.   
 
 The Court agrees with Plaintiff.  “‘It is hornbook law that an actionable misrepresentation 
must be made about past or existing facts; statements regarding future events are merely 
deemed opinions.” [Citations.]"  (Neu-Visions Sports v. Soren/McAdam/Bartells (2000) 86 
Cal.App.4th 303, 309-310.)  Here, the FAC alleges Defendants represented that they had 
trained staff, and that Ms. Baker would be frequently assessed.  When the representations were 
made, Defendants knew they did not have sufficient numbers of staff with qualifications, lacked 
the architectural barriers, and inadequate policies and procedures to keep Ms. Baker safe. 
Having sufficient staff, barriers, policies and procedures are representations about a present 
fact.  At any rate,  
 

 “Under certain circumstances, expressions of professional opinion are 
treated as representations of fact. When a statement, although in the form of an 
opinion, is ‘not a casual expression of belief’ but ‘a deliberate affirmation of the 
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matters stated,’ it may be regarded as a positive assertion of fact. (Gagne v. 
Bertran (1954) 43 Cal.2d 481, 489 [275 P.2d 15].) Moreover, when a party 
possesses or holds itself out as possessing superior knowledge or special 
information or expertise regarding the subject matter and a plaintiff is so situated 
that it may reasonably rely on such supposed knowledge, information, or 
expertise, the defendant's representation may be treated as one of material fact. 
 

(Public Employees' Retirement System v. Moody's Investors Service, Inc. (2014) 226 
Cal.App.4th 643, 662.) 
 
 Plaintiffs have alleged facts sufficient to state a cause of action for fraud based on 
misrepresentation. 
 
 
6th C/A—Fraud (Constructive) 
 
 Defendants demur to this cause of action on ground Plaintiffs have not pled the cause of 
action with the required specificity.  Plaintiffs have only alleged the cause of action in conclusory 
terms.  Plaintiffs have not alleged facts establishing a fiduciary relationship. Even if Plaintiff can 
establish a fiduciary relationship, the alleged violation occurred not on a daily basis, but on a 
single occasion when Ms. Baker exited the building and suffered a fall.   
 
 Constructive fraud “‘is a unique species of fraud applicable only to a fiduciary or 
confidential relationship.’” (Michel v. Moore & Associates, Inc. (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 756, 763.)  
The elements of constructive fraud cause of action are “(1) a fiduciary or confidential 
relationship; (2) nondisclosure (breach of fiduciary duty); (3) intent to deceive, and (4) reliance 
and resulting injury (causation)”].) (Prakashpalan v. Engstrom, Lipscomb & Lack (2014) 223 
Cal.App.4th 1105, 1131.)    
 
 "[A]s a general principle constructive fraud comprises any act, omission or concealment 
involving a breach of legal or equitable duty, trust or confidence which results in damage to 
another even though the conduct is not otherwise fraudulent.” (Salahutdin v. Valley of California, 
Inc. (1994) 24 Cal.App.4th 555, 562.) “It is clear that ‘[c]onstructive fraud exists in cases in 
which conduct, although not actually fraudulent, ought to be so treated -- that is, in which such 
conduct is a constructive or quasi fraud, having all the actual consequences and all the legal 
effects of actual fraud. [Citations.]’ [Citation.]” (Byrum v. Brand (1990) 219 Cal.App.3d 926, 938.) 
 
 Plaintiffs allege that when Ms. Baker became a resident of Tiffany Court, she became 
dependent upon Defendants for care, supervision, and assistance in meeting her daily needs.  
Defendants accepted the fiduciary relationship that was created.  Defendants owed Ms. Baker a 
fiduciary duty relating her proper care.  Defendants breached that duty by failing to inform Ms. 
Baker that they could not adequately provide the care she required.  However, Defendants 
retained Ms. Baker and continued to collect monies for her care.  As a result, Plaintiffs sustained 
pecuniary damages for medical expenses. 
 
 In Klein v. Bia Hotel Corp. (1996) 41 Cal.App.4th 1133, 1142, the court found that the 
residential care facility for the elderly assumed a special relationship with decedent when it 
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agreed to have her as a resident in its facility for the care of the elderly.  Similarly, here the care 
facility assumed a special relationship with Ms. Baker when she became a resident. Plaintiffs 
have alleged sufficient facts to establish the fiduciary relationship and acts breaching 
Defendants duty.  The demurrer is overruled. 
  
 
 7th C/A—Fraud (Concealment) 
 
 Plaintiffs allege that when Ms. Baker began her residency at Tiffany Court, Defendants 
knew that according to their plan to increase profits, the operation of Tiffany Court was not 
designed, administered or funded to comply with statutory and regulatory responsibilities to 
provide adequate care.  This knowledge was exclusively in the possession of Defendants. 
Defendants breached their duty to disclose the facts to Ms. Baker and her family.  
 
 “The elements of a claim for fraudulent concealment require the plaintiff to show that: 
“(1) the defendant … concealed or suppressed a material fact, (2) the defendant [was] under a 
duty to disclose the fact to the plaintiff, (3) the defendant … intentionally concealed or 
suppressed the fact with the intent to defraud the plaintiff, (4) the plaintiff [was] unaware of the 
fact and would not have acted as he did if he had known of the concealed or suppressed fact, 
and (5) as a result of the concealment or suppression of the fact, the plaintiff must have 
sustained damage.” (Prakashpalan v. Engstrom, Lipscomb & Lack (2014) 223 Cal.App.4th 
1105, 1130.)  
 
 Defendants contend Plaintiffs failed to allege facts sufficient to state a cause of action.  
Plaintiffs cannot rely on allegations that Defendants concealed Ms. Bakers’ worsening condition 
or the sexual assault because the allegations reveal that the Defendants informed Plaintiffs of 
these facts.   
 
 In opposition, Plaintiffs argue there is no precedent for refusing to allow a fraudulent 
concealment claim because the fraud was later discovered. 
 
 Here, the demurrer does not address Plaintiffs’ allegations that Defendants concealed 
their plan to increase profits at the expense of its residents. Plaintiffs allege Defendants had a 
routine practice of employing insufficient and unqualified caregivers, which resulted in physical 
abuse and neglect of its residents.  
 
 Plaintiffs have alleged a duty to disclose, established by confidential relationship 
between the care facility and its residents.  Plaintiffs allege Defendants had sole knowledge of 
or access to material facts regarding its plan to profit at the expense of Ms. Baker and other 
residents.  Plaintiffs have alleged sufficient facts to stat a cause of action for fraud by 
concealment.  The demurrer is overruled.    
 
 
8th C/A—Unfair Business Practice 
 
 Plaintiff Nancy Baker, through her successor-in-interest, alleges Defendants have 
engaged in unlawful, unfair, and deceptive and fraudulent business practices.  Defendants failed 
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to comply with applicable state laws and regulations for custodial care and services.  
Defendants knew the care and services required by law to meet the needs of the elderly 
residents with dementia were not being met.  Yet, Defendants continue to promote and hold 
themselves out as being qualified and equipped to render proper and adequate custodian care.  
Defendants obtained an unfair business advantage over consumers and competitors. 
 
  “‘[A]n “unfair” business practice occurs when that practice ‘offends an established public 
policy or when the practice is immoral, unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous or substantially 
injurious to consumers.’” (Bardin v. DaimlerChrysler Corp. (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 1255, 1268.)  
  
 Defendants demur on the ground Plaintiffs failed to state a viable cause of action.   
Plaintiff alleged in a conclusory manner that the facility did not comply with state laws and 
regulations for custodial care and services.  Based on these conclusory allegations Plaintiff 
requests restitution of unspecified contractual benefits, disgorgement of profits, penalties and 
injunction.   
 
 Moreover, Defendants argue Plaintiff has not alleged standing.  She has not alleged with 
particularity her own economic loss.  She has not alleged what money was lost that could be 
restored. Defendants also argue Plaintiff failed to alleged facts showing entitlement to injunctive 
relief.  
 
 In opposing the demurrer, Plaintiff points out that in ¶117 of the FAC, Plaintiff alleges 
Defendants violated Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations.  “California's unfair 
competition law ‘prohibits unfair competition, which is defined as ‘any unlawful, unfair or 
fraudulent business act or practice ….’ ([Bus. & Prof. Code,] § 17200.) ‘Because Business and 
Professions Code section 17200 is written in the disjunctive, it establishes three varieties of 
unfair competition—acts or practices which are unlawful, or unfair, or fraudulent.’ 
[Citation.][Citation.]” (Bernardo v. Planned Parenthood Federation of America (2004) 115 
Cal.App.4th 322, 351.)    
 
 As to standing Plaintiffs argue Ms. Baker paid thousands of dollars of her own money to 
Tiffany Court.  Plaintiff seeks restitution of the money she paid for services that were 
misrepresented.   
 
 Plaintiff has alleged sufficient facts to state a claim for unfair business practices.  The 
demurrer is overruled. 
 
 
Defendants’ Request for Judicial Notice 
 Defendants request the court to take judicial notice of the following: 

1. Exhibit A—Complaint for Damages, C17-00864, filed May 9, 2017 
2. Exbibit B—First Amended Complaint for Damages, C17-00864 

Defendants’ unopposed request is granted. 
 
Plaintiffs’ Request for Judicial Notice 
Plaintiffs request the Court to take judicial notice of the following:   

1. Exhibit A—Court’s Ruling on Plaintiffs’ Motion for Leave to Amend 
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 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00864 
CASE NAME: BAKER VS. FIVE STAR 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE PORTIONS OF 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY FIVE STAR SENIOR LIVING, INC., et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 
Pursuant to CCP § 436, Defendants move to strike: 

1. Allegations of pain and suffering related to the survival fraud causes of action.  
Specifically, FAC, ¶¶90; 99; 113.   

 Defendants argue noneconomic damages are not recoverable in a survival fraud claim. 
In these paragraphs, Plaintiffs claim damages for physical and emotional injuries and death. Ms. 
Baker’s noneconomic damages died with her.  (Sullivan v. Delta Air Lines, Inc. (1997) 15 Cal.4th 
288, 293; CCP § 377.34.) The exception to CCP § 377.34 applies only to claims brought 
pursuant to Elder Abuse Act, not common law fraud. 
 As Plaintiffs have alleged elder abuse, the Court declines to strike these allegations. 
Denied. 
 

2. Plaintiff’s Prayer for Relief in Connection with the Unfair Business Practices Cause of 
Action (prayer for improper equitable remedies ) 

Specifically:  a) restitution (p.30:14-16).  Defendants argue Plaintiffs failed to specify the monies 
she lost and only made vague allegations of “contractual benefits.”  Denied.   
 b) disgorgement of profits (p.30:17); Defendants argue nonrestitutionary are not available.  
(Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2003) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1148.) Plaintiff asserts she 
is not seeking nonrestitutionary disgorgement. Restitutionary form of disgorgement is permitted 
under UCL. (Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2003) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1148.  
Denied.   
 
 e) injunction (p. 30:21-23).  Defendants argue Plaintiffs have not alleged fact demonstrating the 
acts will be repeated in the future and that Ms. Baker cannot seek injunctive relief to protect the 
rights of unidentified third parties.  The FAC alleges ongoing deceptive and fraudulent business 
practices. Denied. 
4. “Equitable remedies including restitution, injunction and disgorgement of profits.  Denied. 
  

3. Prayer for Improper Penalties 
c) Penalties under 17206 and 17206.1 (FAC, p.30:18)  Defendant argues these penalties are 
not applicable.  These penalties are restricted to civil actions brought in the name of the people 
of the State of California.  (Bus. & Prof. Code 17206) Granted. 
 

4. Treble Damages   
d)  Treble damages pursuant to Business & Professions Code § 17082 (p.30:19) and Civil Code 
§ 3345 (FAC, p.30: 19-20) 
“Treble damage pursuant to Civil Code section 3345” (FAC, p.31: 6) 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   33 
HEARING DATE:   08/20/20 

 
 

- 9 - 

Civil Code 3345 provides for trebling of civil penalties, not damages.  Granted, with leave to 
amend. 
 

5. Attorney’s Fees 
For attorney’s under B & P Code § 17082 (FAC, p. 30:24-28) 
Attorney’s fees under CCP § 1021.5 (p 31:10)   
“unfair business practice” (FAC, p.31:10-11) Defendants argue there are no facts alleged in the 
FAC that suggest a significant benefit will be conferred on the general public or a large class of 
persons.   Granted, with leave to amend.  
 
 
** Due to the excessive heat, our Court will close today at 3:00 pm.  If oral argument is 
requested and you are unable to notify the department prior to 3:00 p.m., please send a 
fax to (925) 608-2692 before 4:00 pm. 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02194 
CASE NAME: PAUL A.  VS.  WCCUSD 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to November 17, 2020 at 8:30 AM in Dept. 33 
 
** Due to the excessive heat, our Court will close today at 3:00 pm.  If oral argument is 
requested and you are unable to notify the department prior to 3:00 p.m., please send a 
fax to (925) 608-2692 before 4:00 pm. 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02194 
CASE NAME: PAUL A. VS.  WCCUSD 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 3rd Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendants West Contra Costa Unified School District, Vranda Booker, and Mark Pohl 
(collectively, the “School District”) bring this demurrer to the third amended complaint (“3AC”) 
filed by plaintiffs Jacob A. (a minor) and Paul A. and Jahna A. (collectively, “Plaintiffs”). 

The demurrer makes, essentially, three arguments. First, it contends that the 3AC is barred 
because Plaintiffs failed to comply with the claim presentation requirements found in the 
Government Claims Act. Second, it contends that Paul A. and Jahna A. lack standing to bring 
any individual claims. Finally, it contends that the 3AC fails to allege facts sufficient to constitute 
any cause of action. 

Government Claims Act 

The Court first addresses the claim presentation requirement found in the Government 
Claims Act.  
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Government Code section 911.2 requires “a claim relating to a cause of action for death or for 
injury to person or to personal property” against a public entity (such as the School District) to 
be presented “not later than six months after the accrual of the cause of action.” Section 945.4 
prohibits a “suit for money or damages … against a public entity on a cause of action for which 
a claim is required to be presented.” 

On its face, it would certainly appear that the present suit would be subject to the claims 
presentation requirement. However, opposing the demurrer, Plaintiffs make two arguments. 
First, they contend that the present suit is exempt from that requirement. Second, they argue 
that even if the present action is subject to the requirement, they substantially complied with the 
claim presentation requirement. 

Scope of Claim Presentation Requirement 

The opposition argues that claims brought under section 220 of the Education Code are exempt 
from the claim presentation requirement. The opposition cites Education Code section 201(g) to 
support this contention.  

Section 201(g) does not exempt a section 220 claim from the claims presentation requirement. 
Section 201(g) deals with remedies. In essence, it says that the remedies afforded a claimant 
under the Education Code are not exclusive remedies, but can be combined with the remedies 
provided by the other statutes listed in subsection (g). 

The opposition fails to cite, and the Court’s research could not locate, any authority specifically 
holding that a section 220 claim is exempt from the requirements found in Government Code 
section 900 et seq either on account of Education Code section 201(g) or some other reason. 
In the absence of such authority, the plain language of Government Code section 900 et seq. 
must control. (See, e.g., Torres v. Parkhouse Tire Service, Inc. (2001) 26 Cal.4th 995, 1003.) 
Relevant here, that means this suit, which seeks money damages, must have been preceded by 
a claim to the public entity, unless some other exception applies. 

Further bolstering the Court’s conclusion in this regard is the fact there exists a specific code 
section identifying the particular claims that are exempt from the claim presentation 
requirements. Government Code section 905 specifically identifies the types of claims that are 
not subject to the claim presentation requirement. A claim arising under Education Code section 
220 is not listed in Government Code section 905.  

The Court concludes that the suit here is subject to the claims presentation requirement found in 
Government Code section 900 et seq. 

Substantial Compliance 

It is true that if a claim provides the public entity with timely notice of the nature of the claim, 
a court can decide that the claim substantially complied with the statutory requirements and 
should be treated as valid, despite technical deficiencies. (Connelly v. County of Fresno (2006) 
146 Cal.App.4th 29, 38.) A claim is sufficient if (1) there is “some compliance with all of the 
statutory requirements” and (2) the claim discloses sufficient information to enable the public 
entity to adequately investigate the merits of the claim so as to settle the claim, if appropriate. 
(City of San Jose v. Super. Ct. (1974) 12 Cal.3d 447, 556-57.) 

However, there can be no finding of substantial compliance unless the claimant actually meets 
the statutory requirements of section 915(e) (that is, “actual receipt” by the clerk, secretary, or 
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governing body of the public entity). (Life v. County of L.A. (1991) 227 Cal.App.3d 894, 901.) 
So for the doctrine of substantial compliance to apply here, Plaintiffs need to show (or at least 
allege) actual receipt by a designated person. 

The Court considers that there are two separate “claims” here. First, Plaintiffs’ report to the 
school principal in November 2015. Second, Plaintiffs’ claim to the School District in May 2017. 

May 2017 Report 

It appears that Plaintiffs notified the School District in May 2017 of the incident generally, and 
indicated that they intended to seek compensation for just over $2200 in medical expenses. 
(See Exhibit A to School District’s RFJN.) That claim was rejected as untimely. (Id.) It does not 
appear that Plaintiffs sought leave to present a late claim, or otherwise took action until filing this 
lawsuit on November 9, 2017. 

The doctrine of substantial compliance presupposes a timely claim. (Connelly, supra, 146 
Cal.App.4th at p. 38; Government Code § 915(e).) The incidents giving rise to this case 
occurred in November 2015. The May 2017 report was not timely, and so it cannot support a 
finding of substantial compliance. 

Report to Principal 

The 3AC alleges that both of the incidents were reported in writing to the principal of Korematsu 
Middle School in November 2015. (3AC ¶¶ 14, 17.) Further detail concerning the incidents was 
provided to the principal in writing in June 2016. (3AC ¶ 20.) Accepting the factual allegation of a 
written report in November 2015 to the principal as true, as the Court must, the Court considers 
whether such a report could constitute substantial compliance with the claims presentation 
requirement. Life, as well as the statute, is clear: the claim must have reached the appropriate 
officials—that is, the “clerk, secretary, auditor, or board of [the School District]”—otherwise, 
there can be no substantial compliance. There is no allegation or suggestion that the written 
report Plaintiffs made to the principal ever reached anyone other than the principal in this case. 
The opposition vaguely suggests the Court provide leave to amend on this basis, without 
providing anything more. The burden was on Plaintiffs to demonstrate how the complaint could 
be amended, and they have failed to meet that burden. 

The demurrer is sustained without leave to amend. 

If Plaintiffs contest this tentative ruling in whole or in part on the basis that they should be 
permitted leave to amend to allege more facts related to the doctrine of substantial compliance, 
they should be prepared to explain to the Court what facts they can allege in good faith to justify 
such leave to amend. 

As to the remaining grounds raised in the demurrer, they are overruled without prejudice. 
Should a further amended complaint be filed, the School District’s ability to demur on those 
grounds is preserved. If there is a hearing on this matter, the parties also should come prepared 
to address whether leave to amend—if any is granted—also should encompass the other 
grounds raised by the demurrer. 
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** Due to the excessive heat, our Court will close today at 3:00 pm.  If oral argument is 
requested and you are unable to notify the department prior to 3:00 p.m., please send a 
fax to (925) 608-2692 before 4:00 pm. 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00408 
CASE NAME: STEPHENS VS. WELLS FARGO 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
FILED BY WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 The motion for summary judgment brought by defendant Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. is 

granted.  Defendant shall prepare a proposed judgment of dismissal, separate from any formal 

order on the motion, and shall submit that proposed judgment to plaintiff for approval as to form.  

The basis for this ruling is as follows. 

A. The First Cause of Action. 

The First Cause of Action is for violation of Civil Code section 2424f.  Plaintiff alleges 

that defendant violated its statutory obligation to give plaintiff 20 days’ notice of the trustee’s 

sale set for February 7, 2018. 

The Court grants summary adjudication of this cause of action because plaintiff has not 

disputed Fact No. 47, which reads as follows: 

47. On January 10, 2018, Ms. Stephens called Wells Fargo and asked to 

speak with Wells Fargo’s reentry team.  During the telephone call, she 

stated: “And uhm we received the notice of sale posted to our house 

yesterday, or maybe the day before yesterday.  Uhm and so I wanted to 

get reviewed for another modification due to the fact that the household 

income has changed since—whenever the last time … 

In light of this concession, any technical defect in the posting or service of the notice of trustee’s 

sale could not have been prejudicial.  (See, Aceves v. U.S. Bank N.A. (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 

218, 232 [notice of default’s designation of incorrect beneficiary not prejudicial].  See also, 

Knapp v. Doherty (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 76, 94-99.)  The fact that the posted version of the 

notice did not have a recorder’s stamp is of no consequence; the date of the trustee’s sale was 

accurate, and that is what is important. 

 B. The Second Cause of Action. 
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The Second Cause of Action is for violation of Civil Code section 2924.11, as that statute 

read in 2018.  Section 2924.11 then provided in pertinent part as follows: 

(a) If a borrower submits a complete application for a foreclosure prevention 
alternative offered by, or through, the borrower’s mortgage servicer, 
a mortgage servicer, trustee, mortgagee, beneficiary, or authorized agent 
shall not record a notice of sale or conduct a trustee’s sale while the 
complete foreclosure prevention alternative application is pending, and 
until the borrower has been provided with a written determination by the 
mortgage servicer regarding that borrower’s eligibility for the requested 
foreclosure prevention alternative. 

 
Plaintiff alleges that defendant was prohibited from conducting a trustee’s sale on 

February 7, 2018, because defendant had received a complete application for a loan 

modification on January 15, 2018, and as of February 7 defendant had not yet processed that 

application.  The Court grants summary adjudication of this cause of action because it is 

undisputed that defendant had, in fact, processed the application as of the date of the 

trustee’s sale.  Maritza Stephens, plaintiff’s agent in the communications with defendant, alleges 

as follows in her opposition declaration: 

21. On January 22, 2018, I phoned WELLS FARGO to determine if anything 

else was needed to complete our loan modification application.  At this 

time, WELLS FARGO informed me that our loan modification application 

had been denied … 

22. Shortly thereafter, we received a letter from WELLS FARGO dated 

January 26, 2018 which stated: “[a]t this time, we are not moving forward 

with a review of the mortgage for assistance.  We based our decision on a 

review of the mortgage history, the recent information you provided us, 

and the current circumstances surrounding the mortgage.”  Attached 

hereto as Exhibit I is a true and correct copy of the letter that we received 

from Defendant dated January 26, 2018. 

(Stephens Dec., filed with plaintiff’s “Volume of Evidence” on June 18, 2020, ¶ 21 and ¶ 22.) 

Defendant argues, as a second ground for granting the motion as to this cause of action, 

that federal regulations in effect in 2018 would have prohibited conducting a trustee’s sale only if 

plaintiff’s application had been received more than 37 days before February 7, 2018, the 

scheduled date of the sale.  (12 C.F.R. § 1024.41, subd. (c)(1).)  The Court finds that this 

argument lacks merit, because Civil Code section 2924.11 contained no such time restriction in 

2018, and the federal regulations do not preempt states from providing protections greater than 

those provided under federal law.  

 C. The Third Cause of Action. 
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The Third Cause of Action is for violation of section 2923.7 of the Civil Code.  Section 

2923.7 requires servicers to provide borrowers with a single point of contact or “SPOC” for loss 

mitigation options. 

The Court grants summary adjudication of this cause of action because defendant’s 

evidence shows that any violation of the SPOC statute was not “material.”  (Civ. Code, § 

2924.12, subd. (b).)  Plaintiff’s 2017 application for a loan modification was considered and 

denied.  Plaintiff’s 2018 application for a loan modification, based on an increase in plaintiff’s 

income, was also considered and denied.  While plaintiff may have experienced some 

frustration in dealing with defendant during this loss mitigation process, the purposes of the 

SPOC statute were ultimately fulfilled. 

D. The Fourth Cause of Action. 

The Fourth Cause of Action is for violation of Civil Code section 2923.6.  This cause of 

action is not at issue in the pending motion, because on August 9, 2018, the Court sustained a 

demurrer to this cause of action without leave to amend. 

 E. The Fifth Cause of Action. 

 The Fifth Cause of Action is a common law cause of action for wrongful foreclosure.  

This cause of action is derivative of the earlier causes of action, and accordingly, summary 

adjudication is granted for the same reasons stated above. 

 F. Additional Matters. 

 The Court rules as follows on plaintiff’s evidentiary objections: 

General Objections 
 

No. 1:  overruled.  Mr. McNeal was not designated as defendant’s person 
most knowledgeable for purposes of defendant’s deposition.  However, 
it does not logically follow that Mr. McNeal is not competent to testify to 
defendant’s business records.  (Evid. Code, § 1271.  See, Jazayeri v. 
Mao (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 301, 322.) 
 
Nos. 2-3: overruled.  Blanket objections to entire declarations on 
relevance grounds are improper.  (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 3.1354.) 

 
Specific Objections 
 
 No. 16: overruled. 
 

The Court will not rule on the remaining specific objections because they 
are moot: the corresponding evidence is cited in support of separate 
statement facts that plaintiff does not dispute. 
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** Due to the excessive heat, our Court will close today at 3:00 pm.  If oral argument is 
requested and you are unable to notify the department prior to 3:00 p.m., please send a 
fax to (925) 608-2692 before 4:00 pm. 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-01833 
CASE NAME: BONNER VS. SPARGO 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR SUMMARY ADJUDICATION 
FILED BY BRITTNEY BONNER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Plaintiff/Defendant Brittney Bonner’s Motion for Summary Judgment, Alternatively, 
Summary Adjudication is denied as moot.  Jackson dismissed the complaint against Bonner, 
with prejudice, on June 9, 2020. 
 
 
Background  
 
 Several cases have been consolidated.  These cases arise for a collision that occurred 
on June 2, 2018 in West Sacramento.  Plaintiff Brittany Bonner’s vehicle was at a complete stop 
for traffic on Highway 80.  Failing to notice the stopped traffic, Defendant Richard Spargo rear-
ended Brittney’s vehicle at high rate of speed.  In the collision, Brittney, her 4-year-old son 
Kyree Jackson-Bonner, and a passenger Shaquela Jacksons were injured.  Tragically, Brittney’s 
18-month-old son, Khalil Jackson-Bonner lost his life.   
 
  Lamar Jackson, the presumed biological father of Kyree and Khalil, filed an action in 
Sacramento for the wrongful death of Khalil against Brittney and Spargo arising out of the 
accident.  The case was transferred to this Court on 2/3/20 and assigned Case No. C20-00283.  
It was consolidated with this case, Bonner, et al. v. Spargo, Case No. C18-01833.   
  
 Lamar Jackson has settled with Defendant Spargo. The hearing for determination of 
good faith settlement is scheduled for September 10, 2020. 
 
 
Motion for Summary Judgment 
 
 Plaintiff/Defendant Brittney Bonner brings this motion for summary judgment as to the 
claims made by Plaintiff Lamar Jackson on the ground no triable issues of material fact exists as 
to Plaintiff’s complaint and therefore, Defendant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. 
Bonner argues the undisputed facts establish that Lamar Jackson lacks standing to file the 
wrongful death cause of action alleged in his complaint, as he is not the natural parent of 
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Decedent Khalil Jackson-Bonner as required by CCP § 337.60(a).  Also, Plaintiff Lamar has no 
evidence that Boner failed to property secure Decedent in his car seat.   
 
 “California's wrongful death statute establishes that standing to sue for wrongful death 
turns on whether the plaintiff has a right to inherit from the decedent under California's intestate 
succession statutes.  (Stennett v. Miller (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 284, 287.)  Probate Code §6452 
provides,” A parent does not inherit from or through a child on the basis of the parent and child 
relationship if any of the following apply: (2) The parent did not acknowledge the child.” 
   
 Bonner argues that in order for Lamar Jackson to have standing, he would have to 
present clear and convincing evidence that he held Khalil Jackson-Bonner out as his own child.  
Bonner maintains the undisputable evidence establishes Lamar Jackson failed to acknowledge 
Khalil Jackson-Bonner as his son before his death.   
  
 
Standard on Summary Judgment Motion 
 
 CCP § 437c(a) provides in part,  “A party may move for summary judgment in an action 
or proceeding if it is contended that the action has no merit or that there is no defense to the 
action or proceeding.”  CCP § 437c(c) provides,  “The motion for summary judgment shall be 
granted if all the papers submitted show that there is no triable issue as to any material fact and 
that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.”   
 
 “A defendant bears the burden of persuasion that ‘one or more elements of’ the 
‘cause of action’ in question ‘cannot be established,’ or that ‘there is a complete defense’ 
thereto. (Id., § 437c, subd. (o)(2).)”  (Aguilar v. Atlantic Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 
850.)   Once the defendant meets the initial burden, “the burden then shifts to the party 
opposing summary judgment to establish, by means of competent and admissible evidence, 
that a triable issue of material fact still remains.” (Brown v. Ransweiler (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 
516, 525.) 
 
 
Summary Judgment is Not Available 
 
 Here, Jackson dismissed the action against Bonner while this motion for summary 
judgment was pending.  The complaint was dismissed with prejudice. Bonner is no longer 
“a party” to the action filed by Lamar Jackson.  “The purpose of the law of summary judgment is 
to provide courts with a mechanism to cut through the parties' pleadings in order to determine 
whether, despite their allegations, trial is in fact necessary to resolve their dispute.” (Aguilar v. 
Atlantic Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 843.) The complaint limits the issues to be 
addressed at the motion for summary judgment.  (Laabs v. City of Victorville (2008) 163 
Cal.App.4th 1242, 1258.)  With the dismissal of the complaint, summary judgment serves 
no purpose.    
 
 The Court’s acknowledges Bonner’s concern that any recovery obtained by Lamar 
Jackson will reduce the resources available to Bonner, and their son, Kyree.  However, a motion 
for summary judgment on a dismissed action is not proper vehicle.  This Court’s ruling does not 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   33 
HEARING DATE:   08/20/20 

 
 

- 17 - 

preclude Bonner from seeking a determination of the rightful heir of Khalil Jackson-Bonner or 
some declaratory relief as to who has standing to assert a wrongful death claim or recover on 
such claims. 
  
 
Plaintiff/Defendant Bonner’s Request for Judicial Notice 
 Bonner requests the Court to take judicial notice of the following: 

1. Exhibit A—Lamar Jackson’s Complaint 
2. Exhibit B—Shaquela Jackson’s Complaint 
3. Exhibit C—Plaintiff Kyree Jackson-Complaint 
4. Exhibit D—Petition for Guardian Ad Litem of Kyree Jackson-Bonner 
5. Exhibit E—Certified Copy of Richard Spargo’s Conviction 

   
 The unopposed request is granted. 
 
 
Jackson’s Request for Judicial Notice 
 
 Jackson requests the Court to take judicial notice of the following: 

1. Exhibit 8—Request for Dismissal Lamar Jackson as to Defendant Brittney Bonner 
The unopposed request is granted. 
 
 
Parties Objection to Evidence 
 
 The Court declines to rule on the various objections to evidence pursuant to CCP 
§ 437c(q).  “In granting or denying a motion for summary judgment or summary adjudication, 
the court need rule only on those objections to evidence that it deems material to its disposition 
of the motion. Objections to evidence that are not ruled on for purposes of the motion shall be 
preserved for appellate review.” 

** Due to the excessive heat, our Court will close today at 3:00 pm.  If oral argument is 
requested and you are unable to notify the department prior to 3:00 p.m., please send a 
fax to (925) 608-2692 before 4:00 pm. 

  

 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00228 
CASE NAME: OMOTOSHO VS. KINGSMEAD ASSET 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE PORTIONS OF THE 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY KINGSMEAD ASSET HOLDING TRUST 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a Motion to Strike filed by Defendant Kingsmead Asset Holding Trust 
(“Defendant” or “Kingsmead”). Defendant moves to strike on the grounds that the First Amended 
Complaint (“FAC”) filed by Oluwatoyin Omotosho and Agnes I. Fashola (“Plaintiffs”) fails to 
comply with this Court’s February 6, 2020 order and that four of the FAC’s four causes of action 
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are entirely new. 

California Code of Civil Procedure section 472 provides that a plaintiff may amend a pleading 
without leave of court before an answer or demurrer is filed. (Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 472; see 
also Leader v. Health Indus. of Am., Inc. (2001) 89 Cal. App. 4th 603, 612-13.) Where the 
Court’s order sustains a demurrer with leave to amend, “the plaintiff may amend his or her 
complaint only as authorized by the court’s order.” (Harris v. Wachovia Mortgage, FSB (2010) 
185 Cal. App. 4th 1018, 1023.) The plaintiff may not amend the complaint to add new causes of 
action without having obtained permission to do so, unless the new causes of action is within 
the scope of the order granting leave to amend. (Id.) Where a cause of action “directly 
responds” to the trial court’s reason for sustaining the demurrer, the rule that new causes of 
action may not be added does not apply. (Patrick v. Alacer Corp. (2008) 167 Cal. App. 4th 995, 
1015.) 

The Complaint alleged claims for (1) set aside trustee’s sale, (2) cancellation of instrument, 
(3) wrongful foreclosure, (4) breach of contract, and (5) declaratory relief. The FAC alleges 
causes of action for (1) declaratory relief, (2) injunctive relief, (3) wrongful foreclosure, 
(4) breach of contract, (5) violation of California Business and Professions Code §§ 17200 et 
seq., (6) quiet title, and (7) unjust enrichment. 

Here, the new causes of action for injunctive relief, violation of California Business and 
Professions Code §§ 17200 et seq., quiet title and unjust enrichment are not within the scope of 
the order granting leave to amend. Plaintiffs have not articulated what specific grounds of the 
Court’s order granting the Defendant’s motion for judgment on the pleadings each new cause of 
action responds to; instead, they make the conclusory argument that they “fundamentally 
respond to the Court’s prior ruling” without identifying how. However, the Court finds that the 
quiet title cause of action, in lieu of Plaintiffs’ previous claim for set aside trustee’s sale, is 
arguably responsive to the Court’s prior order. And, while it is now pled as a separate claim, 
Plaintiffs did include “preliminary and permanent injunctive relief” in their original Complaint. 

The motion to strike is granted-in-part (without leave to amend) as to the new causes of action 
for violation of § 17200 and unjust enrichment and denied-in-part as to the causes of action for 
quiet title and injunctive relief. However, Plaintiffs have failed to allege facts sufficient to 
constitute those causes of action, as discussed in Line 10. 

 
** Due to the excessive heat, our Court will close today at 3:00 pm.  If oral argument is 
requested and you are unable to notify the department prior to 3:00 p.m., please send a 
fax to (925) 608-2692 before 4:00 pm. 
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10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00228 
CASE NAME: OMOTOSHO VS. KINGSMEAD ASSET H 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY KINGSMEAD ASSET HOLDING TRUST 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a demurrer (“Demurrer”) filed by Defendant Kingsmead Asset Holding Trust 
(“Defendant” or “Kingsmead”). The Demurrer relates to the First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) of 
Plaintiff Oluwatoyin Omotosho and Plaintiff Agnes I. Fashola (collectively, “Plaintiffs”). The FAC 
pleads causes of action against Kingsmead for (1) declaratory relief, (2) injunctive relief, (3) 
wrongful foreclosure, (4) breach of contract, (5) violation of California Business and Professions 
Code §§ 17200 et seq., (6) quiet title, and (7) unjust enrichment. 

The Court strikes causes of action for (5) violation of California Business and Professions Code 
§§ 17200 et seq. and (7) unjust enrichment pursuant to Defendant’s motion to strike discussed 
at Line 9. 

Defendant demurs to the remaining causes of action pursuant to Code of Civil Proc. § 430.10(e) 
and (f).  

As a threshold issue, the Court declines to sustain the Demurrer on the grounds of uncertainty. 

Uncertainty is a disfavored ground for demurring to a complaint. (See, e.g., Khoury v. Maly’s of 

California (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 612, 616; 1 Weil & Brown, Civil Procedure Before Trial (The 

Rutter Group 2011) § 7:84, p. 7(l)-39.) A demurrer for uncertainty generally will be sustained 

only when the complaint is such that the defendant cannot even determine what it must respond 

to. (Williams v. Beechnut Nutrition Corp. (1986) 185 Cal.App.3d 135, 139.) 

However, as discussed further, below, the Court does sustain the Demurrer without leave to 

amend on the grounds that the FAC does not state facts sufficient to constitute its causes of 

action for quiet title, wrongful foreclosure, breach of contract, and declaratory and injunctive 

relief. 

Request for Judicial Notice 

Defendant’s unopposed request for Judicial Notice is granted. (Evid. Code §§ 452, 453.) 

Factual and Procedural Background 

Plaintiffs purchased 5401 Morengo Drive, Concord, CA 94521 (the “Subject Property”) in July 
2005. (FAC ¶¶ 7-8.) In October 2005, Plaintiffs borrowed $650,000 from Paul Financial LLC 
which was secured by a Deed of Trust against the Subject Property. (RJN Ex. A.) Plaintiffs 
borrowed an additional $90,000 from Paul Financial LLC that was also secured by a Deed of 
Trust against the Subject Property (the “Subject Loan”). (RJN Ex. B.) 

Plaintiffs filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy on January 19, 2011. (RJN Exs. C, D.) They received a 
discharge on April 19, 2011. (FAC at ¶ 9; RJN Ex. E.)  

On September 14, 2017, the Subject Loan was assigned to Kingsmead and the assignment 
was recorded on September 21, 2017. (RJN Ex. F.) MTC recorded a Notice of Default against 
the Subject Property on April 6, 2018. (RJN Ex. G.) A Notice of Trustee’s Sale was recorded on 
July 13, 2018. (RJN Ex. H.) MTC conducted a nonjudicial foreclosure sale on December 18, 
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2018 where Defendant Kingsmead purchased the Subject Property. (RJN Ex. I; FAC at ¶ 18.) 
Plaintiffs received the April 6, 2018 and the July 13, 2018 Notice of Default but believed them to 
be fraudulent and did not attend the Trustee’s Sale. (FAC at ¶¶ 17,18.)  

Kingsmead recorded a Trustee’s Deed Upon Sale. (FAC ¶ 18, Ex. J.) Plaintiffs later received an 
eviction notice in January 2019; they allege that only then did they learn that Kingsmead and 
MTC had foreclosed on the Subject Property. (FAC at ¶ 19.) 

Analysis 

Quiet Title (sixth cause of action) 

In lieu of their cause of action to set aside trustee’s sale, Plaintiffs now allege a claim for 
quiet title. 

The elements of an action to quiet title are: (1) “the plaintiff is the owner and in possession of the 
land,” and (2) “the defendant claims an interest therein adverse to [the plaintiff].” (South Shore 
Land Co. v. Petersen (1964) 226 Cal. App. 2d 725, 740-741.) A borrower cannot quiet title to 
secured property without alleging that he paid the debt secured by the property. (See, e.g., 
Miller v. Provost (1994) 26 Cal.App.4th 1703, 1707 [“a mortgagor of real property cannot, 
without paying his debt, quiet his title against the mortgagee.”].) 

There are four exceptions to the tender requirement in the nonjudicial foreclosure context: First, 
if the borrower’s action attacks the validity of the underlying debt, a tender is not required since 
it would constitute an affirmation of the debt. Second, a tender will not be required when the 
person who seeks to set aside the trustee’s sale has a counterclaim or set-off against the 
beneficiary. Third, a tender may not be required where it would be inequitable to impose such a 
condition on the party challenging the sale. Fourth, no tender will be required when the trustor is 
not required to rely on equity to attack the deed because the trustee’s deed is void on its face. 
(See Lona v. Citibank, N.A. (2011) 202 Cal.App.4th 89, 112-13.) 

Here, Plaintiffs allege that “[i]f the Court finds that the foreclosure by Defendants is voidable, as 
opposed to void, then Plaintiffs are ready, willing and able to tender the correct amount of the 
debt owed to Defendants.” FAC at ¶ 44. This is not a credible allegation of tender; instead, it is a 
conditional allegation that Plaintiffs will tender in the future. There are no allegations in the FAC 
that would support any of the other exceptions to the tender requirement.  

Plaintiffs have failed to allege facts sufficient to state a claim for quiet title. 

Wrongful Foreclosure (third cause of action) 

A cause of action for wrongful foreclosure has three elements: “To obtain the equitable set-aside 

of a trustee’s sale or maintain a wrongful foreclosure claim, a plaintiff must allege that (1) the 

defendants caused an illegal, fraudulent, or willfully oppressive sale of the property pursuant to 

a power of sale in a mortgage or deed of trust; (2) the plaintiff suffered prejudice or harm; and 

(3) the plaintiff tendered the amount of the secured indebtedness or was excused from 

tendering.” (Chavez v. Indymac Mortgage Services (2013) 219 Cal.App.4th 1052, 1062.) 

Plaintiffs’ wrongful foreclosure theory remains unclear. They allege that they believed both their 
first position loan and the subject loan were the subject of a transfer notice they received in 
February 2011. (FAC at ¶ 10.) Following their discharge from bankruptcy, Plaintiffs later entered 
into a trial loan modification program which they allege they believed applied to both their first 
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position loan and the subject loan. (FAC at ¶ 11.) Following their bankruptcy and the loan 
modification, Plaintiffs allege that they stopped receiving loan statements specific to the Subject 
Loan. (FAC at ¶ 12.) 

Plaintiffs allege that they believed a dunning letter they received in December 2017 regarding 
the subject loan was in error. (FAC at ¶ 15.) The Plaintiffs believed the April 6, 2018 Notice of 
Default and the July 13, 2018 Notice of Trustee’s Sale were fraudulent. (FAC at ¶¶ 17, 18.) 

Critically, the FAC is bereft of allegations that the sale was illegal, fraudulent, or willfully 
oppressive. Instead, Plaintiffs allege that Defendant’s credit bid of $171,388.27 was beneath the 
assessed value of the property of $765,000. (FAC at ¶ 18.) The sale of the subject property for a 
credit bid below the alleged total value of the subject property, alone, is insufficient to 
demonstrate illegality, fraud, or willful oppressiveness. (See Bank of America Nat’l Trust & 
Savings & Trust Assn. v. Reidy (1940) 15 Cal.2d 243, 248 [“it is not unusual for a mortgagee to 
make a bid for the property in the amount owing on the debt. The sale is not rendered fraudulent 
by the fact that such bid exceeds the value of the property at the time of sale and was made 
with the intent of discouraging bidding or redemption by junior encumbrancers[.]”].) Furthermore, 
as discussed further above, Plaintiffs have failed to credibly allege tender. Instead they have 
alleged a conditional intent to tender in the future. (FAC at ¶ 44.) This is insufficient. 

Plaintiffs have failed to allege facts sufficient to state a cause of action for wrongful foreclosure. 

Breach of Contract (fourth cause of action) 

“[T]he elements of a cause of action for breach of contract are (1) the existence of the contract, 

(2) plaintiff’s performance or excuse for nonperformance, (3) defendant’s breach, and (4) the 

resulting damages to the plaintiff.” (Oasis W. Realty, LLC v. Goldman (2011) 51 Cal.4th 811, 

821.) Plaintiffs’ defaulted on the subject loan in 2009. (RJN Ex. G; FAC at ¶ 9.)  

Plaintiffs allege that they “entered into a loan modification agreement with Defendants such that 

the Subject Loan was placed into a ‘combined principal balance’ with the First Position Loan.” 

(FAC at ¶ 36.) This allegation is inconsistent with other allegations of the FAC as well as 

exhibits attached thereto. Specifically: at paragraph 11 of the FAC, Plaintiffs allege that they 

“believed” that the Subject Loan was part of the trial modification program, not that it was; 

additionally, Exhibit E to the FAC is the assignment of deed of trust of the Subject Loan from 

Paul Financial LLC to Kingsmead Asset Holding Trust recorded September 21, 2017. Even if 

Plaintiffs had coherently alleged that the Subject Loan was included in the loan modification 

agreement, their allegation that “Defendants have breached the loan modification agreement by 

foreclosing on the property” is unavailing given their failure to allege their performance or 

excuse for nonperformance. Their conclusory allegation at paragraph 36 that they have 

performed is inconsistent with their own allegation that they became unable to make monthly 

payments on the Subject Loan in 2009. (FAC at ¶ 9.) They have also failed to allege that they 

are excused from performance. 

Alternatively, Plaintiffs allege that “in October 2005, Plaintiffs signed a promissory note with Paul 

Financial LLC which Defendants allegedly acquired through assignment. Defendants breached 

said promissory note by claiming inflated amounts were due and owing pursuant to the note and 

then foreclosing on that basis.” (FAC at ¶ 36.) They allege that they were “excused from 
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tendering the amount of the claimed debt to Defendants because the Subject Loan was either 

subject to the loan modification agreement or was unconscionable, as alleged herein.” (Id.) This 

conclusion is not supported by factual allegations and, as noted above, they allege elsewhere 

that they failed to perform under the Subject Loan in 2009. (See FAC at ¶ 9.) 

Plaintiffs have failed to allege a cause of action for Breach of Contract.  

Declaratory and Injunctive Relief (first and second causes of action) 

Plaintiffs’ declaratory and injunctive relief claims are derivative of their other claims and also fails 
for the reasons stated above.  

 

** Due to the excessive heat, our Court will close today at 3:00 pm.  If oral argument is 
requested and you are unable to notify the department prior to 3:00 p.m., please send a 
fax to (925) 608-2692 before 4:00 pm. 

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00613 
CASE NAME: MAHMOUD VS. WALGREEN CO. 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR LEAVE TO AMEND OPERATIVE COMPLAINT 
FILED BY YOUSEF FATTOUH MAHMOUD 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Plaintiff’s motion for leave to file an amended complaint is granted in part. Plaintiff may 

file his proposed first amended complaint and add Friello as a defendant in cause of action one 

only. Lawson will not be added as a defendant. The allegations in paragraph 10(h) related to 

Friello or Lawson’s harassment of Plaintiff are not permitted in the First Amended Complaint. 

The updated first amended complaint shall be filed and served on the current defendants by 

September 3, 2020. Plaintiff shall promptly serve Friello.  

Plaintiff seeks permission to file a first amended complaint that adds Keith Lawson and 

Joseph Friello as defendants in this case. Friello would be added to causes of action one 

(FEHA violations) and seven (IIED), while Lawson would be added to cause of action seven 

(IIED). (Kirsh decl. ex. ¶2.)   

There is “a policy of great liberality in permitting amendments to the complaint at any 

stage of the proceedings, up to and including trial [citations]…” (Magpali v. Farmers Group 

(1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 471, 487.) However, leave to amend can be denied where there is “ 

‘inexcusable delay and probable prejudice to the opposing party’… [Citation.]” (Ibid; see also, 

Kittredge Sports Co. v. Superior Court (1989) 213 Cal.App.3d 1045, 1048 (even assuming there 

is unreasonable delay, “it is an abuse of discretion to deny leave to amend where the opposing 

party was not misled or prejudiced by the amendment.”).) 
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The Court finds that Plaintiff unreasonably delayed in filing this motion, at least in part. 

Plaintiff claims that he learned about the possible claims against Friello and Lawson in 

September 2019 when certain documents were produced in discovery. This explanation 

addresses the claims that Friello and Lawson were involved in the decision to terminate 

Plaintiff’s employment. This explanation does not, however, address why Plaintiff did not know 

that Friello and Lawson were verbally harassing him on a weekly basis when he filed his original 

complaint. The Court has not found a satisfactory explanation for the one year delay in suing 

Friello and Lawson based on their direct interactions with Plaintiff. Thus, Plaintiff has 

unreasonably delayed in bringing at least part of this request to amend the complaint.  

Having found that the Plaintiff unreasonably delayed (in part), the question now is 

whether the current defendants would be prejudiced by the filing of the proposed amended 

complaint. Magpali discussed the kind of prejudice that exists when adding a new claim to a 

lawsuit on the eve of trial. In Magpali, the court found that when preparing to defend certain 

claims the defendant had “not discovered or deposed many of the witnesses who would support 

the new allegations,” or marshalled certain evidence in opposition of the new allegations. 

(Magpali, supra, 48 Cal.App.4th 471, 486-487.) Magpali went on to state that “[w]here the trial 

date is set, the jury is about to be impaneled, counsel, the parties, the trial court, and the 

witnesses have blocked the time, and the only way to avoid prejudice to the opposing party is to 

continue the trial date to allow further discovery, refusal of leave to amend cannot be an abuse 

of discretion.” (Id. at p. 488.)  

There is no prejudice here. There is no trial date pending. Defendant Preciado has filed 

a motion for summary judgment, but the claims alleged against him are not changing and thus 

the Court will be able to rule on Preciado’s motion in October. Walgreens argues that it will be 

prejudice because it expected to be able to remove this case to federal court once Preciado’s 

motion for summary judgment is granted. There is at least a question as to whether removal 

would be proper in this situation. (See, e.g. Unterleitner v. BASF Catalysts LLC (N.D.Cal. Mar. 

2, 2016, No. 16-cv-00818-JSC) 2016 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 26334.) And in any event, the Court finds 

that Walgreens is not prejudiced by its inability to remove this case to federal court.  

Walgreens argues that the proposed new claims against Friello and Lawson cannot 

succeed because Plaintiff seeks to allege that they verbally and physically harassed him after 

he was injured on December 13, 2017. (See Proposed First Amended Complaint ¶11(h).) Yet, 

Plaintiff admitted in his deposition that he did not communicate with Friello after November 17, 

2017 or with Lawson after December 12, 2017. (Plaintiff Depo. 359:12-17, 390:8-13.) Thus, 

Walgreens argues, that allegations that Friello or Lawson harassed Plaintiff after December 12 

must be false since Plaintiff did not have contact with either person after he was injured.   

“ ‘It is of course proper to deny leave when the proposed amendment or amended 

pleading is insufficient to state a cause of action or defense. [Citations.] [para. ] Likewise, an 

amendment which contradicts an admission in the original pleading will ordinarily not be allowed 

unless a showing is made of mistake or other excuse for changing the allegations of fact. 

[Citation.]’ ” (Congleton v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. (1987) 189 Cal.App.3d 51, 62.) In Congleton, 
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leave to amend was properly denied where the proposed new allegations conflicted with a 

declaration submitted in opposition to a motion for summary judgment. (Id.)  

Here, Plaintiff has not offered a satisfactory explanation for how he can allege 

harassment by Friello or Lawson after the last date that Plaintiff said he communicated with 

either person. Therefore, the allegations in paragraph 11(h) related to Friello and/or Lawson’s 

harassment of Plaintiff cannot be included in the proposed First Amended Complaint. Without 

these allegations, there are insufficient facts for an IIED claim against either individual. In reply, 

Plaintiff points to other times of alleged harassment, including in April and November 2017. 

These do not help explain how harassment could have occurred after December 12, 2017. 

In addition, these facts are not included in the proposed amended complaint.  

There are, however, sufficient facts alleged to support a claim against Friello for FEHA 

violations. Therefore, Plaintiff will be given leave to amend to add Friello to the FEHA claim.  

In granting a motion for leave to amend, the Court may impose conditions. Here, Plaintiff 

must stipulate that Preciado’s motion for summary judgment can proceed as scheduled and that 

any references to the original complaint shall apply to those same allegations included in the 

amended complaint. If Plaintiff does not agree to this condition, he must timely contest the 

tentative ruling and inform the other parties.  

In addition, once Friello is served in this case, he will be permitted to engage in 

discovery related to the claim against him. The Court intends to give Friello some leeway in 

conducting his discovery, including allowing him to ask Plaintiff in deposition and written 

discovery about the facts that support Plaintiff’s claim against him. 

** Due to the excessive heat, our Court will close today at 3:00 pm.  If oral argument is 
requested and you are unable to notify the department prior to 3:00 p.m., please send a 
fax to (925) 608-2692 before 4:00 pm. 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01384 
CASE NAME: STEIN VS. SONIC WALNUT CREEK 
HEARING ON MOTION TO BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL 
FILED BY MICHAEL A. STEIN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Vacated. 
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13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-02108 
CASE NAME: MAGDALENO VS. J.W. BACKHOE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL 
FILED BY FRANCISCO MAGDALENO 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear via CourtCall. 

 

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-02434 
CASE NAME: CHING VS. QUALITY HEALTHCARE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO QUASH SERVICE OF SUMMONS & COMPLAINT 
FILED BY CRAIG MITCHELL, VETERAN'S INHOME FAMILY CARE, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The motion to quash service of summons filed by defendants Craig Mitchell and Veteran’s 
InHome Family Care, LLC is granted.  Plaintiff has filed no Opposition to the motion.  Further, 
defendants’ papers establish that the contract was negotiated from and to be performed in 
Alabama and that neither defendant resides, owns property, or does business in California.  
The mere fact that defendant Mitchell came to California to sign the contract does not constitute 
sufficient minimum contacts for California to assert personal jurisdiction over defendants.  
(Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz (1985) 471 U.S. 462, 478; Stone v. Tex. (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 
1043, 1048.)   

 
In the event of further proceedings in this matter, the court notes a concern.  Defendants’ papers 
do not appear to be in 12 point font size, as required by CRC 2.104.  Defendants should verify 
compliance with that Rule of Court when filing any future papers.  As the party requesting relief, 
it is in defendants’ interest to ensure the court can easily read their papers. 

** Due to the excessive heat, our Court will close today at 3:00 pm.  If oral argument is 
requested and you are unable to notify the department prior to 3:00 p.m., please send a 
fax to (925) 608-2692 before 4:00 pm. 

  

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-02684 
CASE NAME: KING-EXLINE VS. PHH MORTGAGE 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT 
FILED BY PHH MORTGAGE CORPORATION 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 The demurrer brought by defendant PHH Mortgage Corporation is sustained with leave 
to amend.  Plaintiff Cecilia King-Exline shall file and serve any amended complaint on or before 
September 24, 2020.  The basis for this ruling is as follows. 
 
 A. The First Cause of Action. 
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 The First Cause of Action is for breach of a February 2014 loan modification agreement 
entered into between plaintiff’s now-deceased husband and defendant’s predecessor-in-interest, 
non-party Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC.  (Complaint, ¶ 3 and ¶ 8.)  The Court has sustained 
defendant’s demurrer on the following grounds. 
 
  A-1. Standing. 
 
 In support of the demurrer, defendant cites pertinent California case law demonstrating 
plaintiff’s lack of standing.  This case law includes the Ambers decision, which summarized 
California law as follows: 
 

A person who is not a party to a contract does not have standing either to seek 
its enforcement or to bring tort claims based on the contractual relationship.  
[Emphasis added.]  Mega Life & Health Ins. Co. v. Super. Ct., 172 Cal. App. 4th 
1522, 1528-32, 92 Cal. Rptr. 3d 399 (2009); Hatchwell v. Blue Shield of Cal., 198 
Cal. App. 3d 1027, 1034, 244 Cal. Rptr. 249 (1988) ("Someone who is not a party 
to the contract has no standing to enforce the contract or to recover extra-
contract damages for wrongful withholding of benefits to the contracting party."); 
see also Andrew Smith Co. v. Paul's Pak, Inc., 754 F. Supp. 2d 1120, 1133 (N.D. 
Cal. 2010) ("A third party who is only incidentally benefited by a contract does not 
have standing to enforce the contract . . . . In order to have standing as a third 
party beneficiary, the contract must be expressly entered into for the intended 
benefit of the third party." (citations omitted)). 
 

(Ambers v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (N.D.Cal. Mar. 3, 2014, No. 13-cv-03940 NC) 2014 
U.S.Dist.LEXIS 28291, at *13-14.)  In the opposition memorandum, plaintiff asserts in 
conclusory terms that this case law is not applicable, but does not offer a persuasive 
explanation of why it is not applicable.  (Opposition, p. 6.) 
   
 Plaintiff acknowledges in her opposition memorandum that she has not assumed the 
decedent’s obligations under the subject mortgage loan, and that she has no intention of doing 
so.  Plaintiff instead bases her standing solely on her status as plaintiff’s widow: 
 

It is Plaintiff’s position that she is third party claimant and a third party beneficiary 
both because of the simple fact that she was married to the decedent at all 
relevant times related to this home of plaintiff and hence is the proper party to 
this lawsuit. 
 

(Opposition, p. 5, lines 23-27.)  However, plaintiff cites no case law in support of this argument, 
and indeed frankly acknowledges that “[t]here is absolutely no case law out there” supporting 
the argument.  (Opposition, p. 4, line 13.) 
 
  A-2. The Statute of Limitations. 
 
 Insofar as plaintiff’s breach of contract theory can be understood, plaintiff appears to be 
alleging that defendant’s predecessor Ocwen breached the loan modification agreement on or 
immediately after the agreement was entered into in February 2014.  (Complaint, ¶¶ 8-10.)  



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   33 
HEARING DATE:   08/20/20 

 
 

- 27 - 

Accordingly, as defendant argues, any breach of contract claim is barred by the applicable 
four-year statute of limitations.  (Code Civ. Proc., § 337, subd. (a).)  The Court notes that plaintiff 
does not address this statute of limitations argument in her opposition memorandum, tacitly 
conceding that the argument has merit. 
 
  A-3. The Nature of the Breach. 
 
 To the extent that plaintiff is alleging that the express terms of the contract 
simultaneously constitute a breach of the contract, plaintiff’s legal theory makes no sense.  
Plaintiff shall clarify the nature of her legal theory in any amended complaint. 
 
 B. The Second Cause of Action. 
 
 The Second Cause of Action is for fraud.  Plaintiff lacks standing to bring this cause of 
action for the reasons stated in Part A-1 above.  Further, plaintiff has not intelligibly alleged a 
common law fraud theory.  (Complaint, ¶ 23.) 
 

In any amended complaint, plaintiff shall attach a full, legible copy of the February 2014 
loan modification agreement as a properly tabbed exhibit.  (See, Cal. Rules of Court, rule 
3.1110, subd. (f).)  If plaintiff is contending that fraudulent representations were made to the 
decedent within the text of the agreement, plaintiff shall specifically allege — by page and 
paragraph number — which representations were false and why they were false.  If plaintiff is 
alleging that fraudulent representations were made extraneously to the agreement, plaintiff shall 
allege the nature of those representations with the heightened particularity required of a fraud 
cause of action, i.e., “how, when, where, to whom, and by what means the representations were 
tendered."  (Stansfield v. Starkey (1990) 220 Cal.App.3d 59, 73.)  Further, although defendant 
and its predecessor are corporations, plaintiff has failed to allege the names of the corporate 
representatives who made the alleged false representations, and their authority to speak: this 
omission shall be corrected in any amended complaint.  (See, Tarmann v. State Farm Mut. 
Auto. Ins. Co. (1991) 2 Cal.App.4th 153, 157.) 

 
C. Leave to Amend. 
 
The Court has granted leave to amend only in an abundance of caution; the Court is not 

confident that plaintiff can successfully amend in light of the fundamental nature of the pleading 
defects identified above.  However, while plaintiff has not suggested how her pleading might be 
amended to cure the defects, this alone is not dispositive: 

 
[F]or an original complaint, regardless whether the plaintiff has requested leave 
to amend, it has long been the rule that a trial court's denial of leave to amend 
constitutes an abuse of discretion unless the complaint “shows on its face that it 
is incapable of amendment.”  [Citations omitted.] 

 
(Eghtesad v. State Farm General Ins. Co. (2020) 51 Cal.App.5th 406, 411.) 
 

Plaintiff shall not add any new defendants without leave of court after a noticed 
motion.  (See, Harris v. Wachovia Mortgage, FSB (2010) 185 Cal.App.4th 1018, 1022-23.)  
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However, under the circumstances, the Court exercises its discretion to allow plaintiff to add or 
substitute new causes of action. 
 
 D. Service of Papers. 
 
 In accordance with Judicial Council Emergency Rule 12, plaintiff’s counsel shall serve 
defendant’s counsel with future papers by email, at the two email addresses shown on the 
caption page of defendant’s reply memorandum.  Defendant’s counsel shall serve plaintiff’s 
counsel with future papers by email, at the email address shown on the caption page of 
plaintiff’s opposition memorandum. 
 
 In the email exchange addressed in defendant’s reply declaration, plaintiff’s counsel 
Mr. Dhaliwal argued that service by email is improper because he has no way of communicating 
with his client.  The Court does not understand the logic of this argument: Mr. Dhaliwal is 
conflating two distinct issues.  If Mr. Dhaliwal genuinely has no way of communicating with his 
client, he will likely need to file a motion to withdraw.  However, that has nothing to do with the 
manner in which papers are served on Mr. Dhaliwal in the meantime. 
 
 The Court notes that the service of plaintiff’s opposition memorandum would have 
been improper even in the absence of the emergency rule, because the proof of service 
shows service only by ordinary mail.  (See, Code Civ. Proc., § 1005, subd. (c) [opposition 
and reply papers shall be served by a statutorily authorized means “reasonably calculated 
to ensure delivery to the other party or parties not later than the close of the next business 
day”].)  The Court has exercised its discretion to consider plaintiff’s improperly served 
opposition memorandum. 
 
 E. Comment. 
 
 Plaintiff’s counsel may wish to reconsider whether the terms of the subject loan 
modification agreement are genuinely as nefarious as plaintiff contends.  The opposition 
memorandum’s rhetoric is not matched by persuasive legal analysis. 
 

In the first place, the Court’s preliminary research indicates that there is no blanket 
prohibition of compound interest in California.  The Court of Appeal has stated the law on this 
point as follows: 
 

The Usury Law provides that upon a loan of money "interest shall not be 
compounded, nor shall the interest thereon be construed to bear interest unless 
an agreement to that effect is clearly expressed in writing and signed by the party 
to be charged therewith."  [Emphasis added.]  (Stats. 1919, p. 1xxxiii, § 2; 
Deering's Ann. Uncod. Measures 1919-1 (1973 ed.) p. 40; 10 West's Ann. Civ. 
Code (1985 ed.) foll. § 1916.12 at p. 148. See McConnell v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, 
Fenner & Smith, Inc. (1978) 21 Cal.3d 365, 372-375 [146 Cal.Rptr. 371, 578 P.2d 
1375, 18 A.L.R.4th 1050]; Rabin & Brownlie, Usury Law in California: A Guide 
Through the Maze (1987) 20 U.C. Davis L.Rev. 397, 421.) 

 
(Ninety Five Ten v. Crain (1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 36, 39-40.)  There may be a constraint 
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imposed on compound interest due to the interest rate cap under The Usury Law, and certain 
statutes may be construed so as not to allow compound interest in certain contexts, but plaintiff 
has not cited legal authority indicating a blanket prohibition. 
 
 Further, in the Court’s experience, a standard feature of some loan modification 
agreements is that delinquent interest — which may well have accrued in an amount that the 
borrower could never hope to pay in a lump sum — is added to the principal balance of the loan, 
and interest thereafter accrues on the new principal balance.  Often the interest rate is lowered, 
and the maturity date of the loan is extended.  This is not so much a matter of compound 
interest as it is a rewriting of the loan in a manner that allows borrowers to stay in their homes.  
Plaintiff has not persuaded the Court that the practice of structuring a loan modification in this 
manner is inherently wrongful. 
 
 In light of these considerations, plaintiff may wish to consider whether her efforts should 
continue to be spent on this litigation, or whether plaintiff’s efforts might be better spent on 
pursuing alternatives to foreclosure.  Such alternatives might include an assumption of the loan 
and the negotiation of a loan modification (if plaintiff qualifies), or a sale of the subject residence 
to a third party with the net proceeds being paid to plaintiff through escrow.  However, given 
plaintiff’s allegation that the initially set trustee’s sale date was December 30, 2019, time would 
appear to be of the essence. 

** Due to the excessive heat, our Court will close today at 3:00 pm.  If oral argument is 
requested and you are unable to notify the department prior to 3:00 p.m., please send a 
fax to (925) 608-2692 before 4:00 pm. 

  

16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-02684 
CASE NAME: KING-EXLINE VS PHH MORTGAGE SE 
CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to November 17, 2020 at 8:30 AM in Dept. 33. 
 

  

17.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-00244 
CASE NAME: JAMES VS. NISSAN NORTH AMERICA 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY NISSAN NORTH AMERICA, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The Court has reviewed the June 1, 2020 declaration of Mr. Kapp, counsel for NNA, which 

purports to satisfy the meet and confer requirements provided by Code of Civil Procedure 

section 430.41. The Court finds that the declaration fails to meet those requirements. Paragraph 

2 of the Kapp Declaration says that NNA “engaged in an unsuccessful meet and confer with 

Plaintiff’s counsel regarding the statute of limitations, fraud, and punitive damages claims before 

filing the instant Demurrer.” (Kapp Decl. ¶ 2.) It goes on to say that with respect to the original 
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complaint, NNA sent an e-mail outlining its objections, and that counsel subsequently discussed 

those issues by telephone. Plaintiff ultimately decided to amend in response to those 

discussions, and the currently operative first amended complaint was filed. That is precisely how 

the meet and confer process is supposed to work. 

However, in response to the first amended complaint, NNA sent an e-mail to Plaintiff’s counsel. 

The Kapp Declaration says that e-mail “raised each of the issues that are the basis for the 

present Demurrer.” (¶ 2.) While plaintiff’s counsel indicated he’d provide a substantive response, 

none was forthcoming. NNA then filed the instant demurrer. 

Sending an e-mail, without following up with a telephone conversation or an in-person meeting, 

fails to satisfy the statutory requirement. The Court is not convinced that the efforts NNA made 

here (a single e-mail) are sufficient to invoke section 430.41(a)(3)(B) (i.e., that Plaintiff “failed to 

respond”), especially given (1) the successful meet and confer related to the original complaint 

and (2) the fact that Plaintiff extended the time for NNA to file its responsive pleading, indicating 

a willingness to cooperate. 

This matter is continued to October 8, 2020, at 9 a.m., to permit the parties sufficient time to 

meet and confer in a way that complies with the requirements of the statute. The Court 

recognizes the difficulties that COVID-19 imposes, and so provides extra time to complete the 

meet and confer process. On or before October 1, 2020, NNA shall file and serve a declaration. 

That declaration shall (1) confirm that a compliant meet and confer process occurred; and (2) 

with respect to each ground raised by the demurrer, indicate whether a dispute remains on each 

ground and whether the Court needs to consider and rule on each such ground. 

** Due to the excessive heat, our Court will close today at 3:00 pm.  If oral argument is 
requested and you are unable to notify the department prior to 3:00 p.m., please send a 
fax to (925) 608-2692 before 4:00 pm. 

  

18.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-00244 
CASE NAME: JAMES VS. NISSAN NORTH AMERICA 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to October 1, 2020 at 9:00 AM in Dept. 33. 
 

  

19.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-00264 
CASE NAME: HICKMAN VS. EBMUD 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR TRIAL PREFERENCE 
FILED BY ROBERT HICKMAN, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
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Granted. Mr. Hickman clearly qualifies for trial preference under CCP §36(a). While this 
shortened time for trial will put a strain on all parties given the complexities of this substantial 
landslide case, preference is mandatory under these circumstances. 

** Due to the excessive heat, our Court will close today at 3:00 pm.  If oral argument is 
requested and you are unable to notify the department prior to 3:00 p.m., please send a 
fax to (925) 608-2692 before 4:00 pm. 

  

20.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-00264 
CASE NAME: HICKMAN VS EBMUD 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear via CourtCall to set trial. 

 

  

21.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC20-00654 
CASE NAME: S. SARABI  VS.  P. SARABI 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT 
FILED BY POUYA SARABI 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to September 3, 2020 at 9:00 AM in Dept. 33. 
 

  

22.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN19-2238 
CASE NAME: BAY VISTA DEVELOPMENT VS. LANGDON 
HEARING ON PETITION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION 
FILED BY BAY VISTA DEVELOPMENT LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Vacated. 
 

  

23.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN20-0684 
CASE NAME: PETITION OF YOLANDA LOPEZ 
HEARING ON PETITION FOR ORDER RELIEVING PETITIONER FROM GOV. CODE 
FILED BY YOLANDA LOPEZ 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
For the reasons that follow, the Petition for relief from Government Code § 945.4 is denied. 
 
Legal Standard 
Petitioner’s proposed suit is subject to Government Code § 911.2, which requires personal 
injury causes of action against California public entities to be presented to the Department of 
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General Services not later than six months after the accrual of the cause of action. If a claim is 
not presented to the Department of General Services within six months, Government Code 
§ 911.4(a) provides that “a written application may be made to the public entity for leave to 
present that claim” and Government Code § 911.4(b) requires that the application must be 
made “within a reasonable time not to exceed one year after the accrual of the cause of action”.  
Government Code § 945.4, states, “[e]xcept as provided in Sections 946.4 and 946.6, no suit for 
money or damages may be brought against a public entity on a cause of action for which a 
claim is required to be presented in accordance with Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 900) 
and Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 910) of Part 3 of this division until a written claim 
therefor has been presented to the public entity and has been acted upon by the board, or has 
been deemed to have been rejected by the board, in accordance with Chapters 1 and 2 of 
Part 3 of this division”. 
 
Government Code § 946.6(a)  creates a mechanism for the Court to provide relief from § 945.4, 
stating, “if an application for leave to present a claim is denied or deemed to be denied pursuant 
to Section 911.6, a petition may be made to the court for an order relieving the petitioner from 
Section 945.4”. Section 946.6(b) requires the petition to show, inter alia,  “[t]hat application was 
made to the board under Section 911.4 and was denied or deemed denied”. And Section 
946.6(c) provides, “[t]he court shall relieve the petitioner from the requirements of Section 945.4 
if the court finds that the application to the board under Section 911.4 was made within a 
reasonable time not to exceed that specified in subdivision (b) of Section 911.4 and was denied 
or deemed denied pursuant to Section 911.6”. 
 
Analysis 
It is unclear from the Parties’ filings whether Petitioner made an application for late filing under 
Section 911.4. Petitioner’s memorandum of points and authorities states that “on May 26, 2020, 
Petitioner by written application, submitted leave to present a late claim by personal delivery to 
the California Department of Transportation”. (MPA 2:26-28, emphasis added.) However, 
Petitioner’s attorney’s declaration states only that, “[o]n May 26, 2020, my firm, on behalf of 
Petitioner, served on Respondent a State of California Government claim form for civil cases 
over $10,000”. (Declaration of Ike Kaludi, ¶ 4, emphasis added.) And the Opposition filed by 
Respondent does not indicate what documents it received from Petitioner, instead alleging, in 
apparent contradiction to Petitioner’s memorandum, that “[t]he Petition…states that, as of May 
26, 2020, Petitioner has not presented an application for leave to present a Claim to Caltrans”. 
(Opp. 1:28-2:3.) On Reply, Petitioner’s counsel states that he filed a “government tort claim” on 
that date and advises that Petitioner’s claim was rejected on June 26, 2020. (Reply 2:16-17.) 
 
This is a jurisdictional issue: if Petitioner did not submit an application for leave pursuant to 
Gov. Code Section 911.4, the Court lacks jurisdiction to hear her Petition. 
 
If Petitioner did submit an application for leave and that application has been denied or 
Respondent has taken no action, then we arrive at the question of whether the Court can 
provide relief from Government Code §945.5 notwithstanding that the application was submitted 
after the one-year deadline set forth in Government Code Section 911.4(b) had lapsed.  
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Respondent argues that the one-year period is jurisdictional, and that the public entity cannot 
grant an application for relief after a year has lapsed, and nor can the Court grant a petition for 
relief from Government Code § 945.4. (Opp. 2:20-25.) 
 
The case law supports Respondent’s position: “[f]iling a late-claim application within one year is 
a jurisdictional prerequisite to a late-claim petition”. (Santee v. Santa Clara Cty. Office of 
Educ.(1990) 220 Cal. App. 3d 702, 713, citing Dixon v. City of Turlock, 219 Cal. App. 3d 907, 
910 (Ct. App. 1990) and Hom v. Chico Unified Sch. Dist., 254 Cal. App. 2d 335, 339 (Ct. App. 
1967).) “When the underlying application to file a late claim is filed more than one year after the 
accrual of the cause of action, the court is without jurisdiction to grant relief under Government 
Code section 946.6”. Munoz v. State of Cal. (1995) 33 Cal. App. 4th 1767, 1779. 
 
Petitioner argues that the one-year period is tolled by this Court’s Emergency Local Rules 
addressing the COVID-19 pandemic, which extended certain court filing deadlines as a result of 
court closures in the period encompassing the May 8, 2020 one-year deadline for her to submit 
to the government her request for leave to file a late claim. (Petition 8:27-9:8.) The Court’s 
Emergency Local Rules in response to the COVID-19 pandemic address only filings with this 
Court. They do not alter the statutory requirements for government claims, which are distinct 
from statutes of limitation and repose. See Last Frontier Healthcare Dist. v. Superior Court, 33 
Cal. App. 5th 492, 501 (2019) (“The governmental claim presentation deadline and the deadline 
for seeking leave to present a late claim are not statutes of limitations”.)  
 
The jurisdictional question being dispositive, the question of excusable neglect or mistake 
is moot.  
 
Finally, on Reply, Petitioner argues that her ability to timely make submissions as required by 
Government Code § 911.2 or Government Code § 911.4 were thwarted by the shutdown of 
government offices generally prior to May 26, 2020 because “it is reasonable to think that a 
government entity that is closed to the public due to a pandemic would not be able to receive 
and address government tort claims” and because “CalTrans has not established that they 
provided information to the public that it was open during the closures or that they would have 
acted on the claim if it had been mailed”. (Reply 2:12-15.) It is unclear that the Court could grant 
relief given the jurisdictional issue, but even if it could, the Court notes that Petitioner offers no 
evidence either that she made an attempt to submit her claim and was thwarted or that that any 
government official notified her or the public that claims would not be received. 
 
The Petition is denied. 

** Due to the excessive heat, our Court will close today at 3:00 pm.  If oral argument is 
requested and you are unable to notify the department prior to 3:00 p.m., please send a 
fax to (925) 608-2692 before 4:00 pm. 

 

 


